ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

First Assignment of Error: 

The Circuit Court erred by invalidating the parties' arbitration agreement 
based on a determination that the overall contract in which the arbitration 
clause was contained was unenforceable. The Court's ruling regarding the 
validity of the parties' overall contract violated the well-settled severability 
doctrine that requires a Circuit Court, when presented with a challenge to 
arbitration, to confine its inquiry to the validity of the arbitration provision 
itself. 

Second Assignment of Error: 

The Circuit Court erred in failing to enforce the arbitration clause because it 
is enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1, et seq., as 
recognized and adopted by this Court. 

Third Assignment of Error: 

The Circuit Court erred when it determined that the parties' contract as a 
whole was void and unenforceable. In its ruling, the Court concluded that the 

'. 	 contract as a whole was void and unenforceable because the contract did not 
provide an express three day right of cancellation. The Circuit Court's 
determination was premised on an erroneous interpretation of a state 
consumer protection regulation that was not applicable to the contract at issue 
or the facts of this case. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal seeks relief from a November 7, 2016 Circuit Court order that held that the 

arbitration provision contained within a written, signed construction contract is void and 

unenforceable because the contract as a whole failed to include a three-day notice of right to 

cancellation. [A-400 - 404] 

The underlying litigation involves a written time and materials construction contract 

entered into between the Petitioner and the Respondents. [A -21- 26] In 2009, the Respondents 

retained an architectural firm to prepare formal plans for the construction of a three-story addition 
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to their home. [A-21] Accordingly, the Respondents! contacted the Petitioner to retain him as the 

general contractor to complete the construction work necessary to build the addition. [A-36] 

The parties signed the written time and materials construction contract on January 21, 2011. 

[A-21 - 26] The contract was a typical "time and materials" contract: i.e. the Petitioner would 

provide all labor and materials necessary to construct the three-story addition in accordance with 

the architectural plans provided by the Respondents. [A-21] The contract required Respondents to 

make periodic progress payments to the Petitioner as the work progressed and as the Petitioner 

submitted invoices for completed work. [A -21] The contract included an initial budgetary estimate 

that the construction costs would total approximately $464,359.00 but expressly noted that "[f]inal 

amount will vary depending upon the actual scope of work performed." [A-21] The Respondents 

financed the construction project through a construction loan with Huntington Bank. [A-37] The 

construction contract contained the following arbitration provision: 

Should a dispute arise, Contractor and Owner agree to work diligently in attempt to 
settle amongst themselves. If a settlement can not be reached, all parties mutually agree 
to arbitration. This agreement shall be enforceable under the prevailing arbitration law 
in Kanawha County, WV. Arbitration shall be in accordance with the Construction 
Industry Arbitration Rule of the American Arbitration Association then obtaining. 
Parties agree written demand for arbitration shall be made within a reasonable time. 

[A-22] 

I Notably, Respondent Bruce Jacobs is a Member and Co-Chair of the Spilman, Thomas, & Battle 
PLLC Consumer Finance Group. He practices in the areas of, among other things, consumer credit 
and protection laws and commercial litigation. Indeed, he was counsel of record for several cases 
cited herein. [A-Ill] To the extent party sophistication is a relevant inquiry to the assignments 
of error cited herein, Mr. Jacobs is unequivocally more sophisticated and knowledgeable about 
any consumer protection requirements than this Petitioner and appears to simply be exploiting the 
Petitioner's lack of sophistication in the consumer protection area. Indeed, Arbitrator Hays 
soundly rejected the Respondents' attempt to nUllify the arbitration clause based on the argument 
that the Respondent "told [Petitioner] that AAA would not handle consumer collection actions 
against consumers like Jacobs due to AAA's moratorium on consumer debt collection arbitrations . 
. . " [A-312-315]. This is only one ofmultiple superficial objections the Respondents asserted that 
has been squarely rejected. 
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Construction commenced in the spring of 20 11 and continued through the summer or fall 

of 2012. [A-38] As a result of homeowner-directed changes, errors in the homeowner-provided 

architectural plans, and other homeowner-caused delays, the total cost of construction ultimately 

exceeded the amount initially estimated in the construction contract. Toward the end ofthe project, 

a dispute arose between the parties over the payment ofcertain construction invoices. Specifically, 

the Respondents refused to pay the Petitioner for outstanding invoices reflecting work already 

performed. Accordingly, on January 14, 2013, Petitioner filed a Notice of Mechanic's Lien to 

secure payment of $117,216.71 due and owing for materials and labor that the Petitioner had 

provided in connection with the foregoing construction project. [A-1-28] 

On July 8, 2013, Petitioner filed a "Complaint for Enforcement ofMechanic's Lien" in the 

Circuit Court of Kanawha County as required by W.Va. Code § 38-2-342 in order to preserve and 

perfect its mechanic's lien. [A-1-28] The Petitioner's Complaint for Enforcement ofMechanic's 

Lien expressly pled that Petitioner's Complaint was filed for the sole purpose of preserving and 

protecting its mechanic's lien and further pled that the parties had contracted to resolve all disputes 

through binding arbitration. See [A-3 at ~~ 10, 11]. The day after filing this Complaint, Petitioner 

made a request to the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") to submit this matter to binding 

arbitration in accordance with the terms of the parties' contract. [A-121] 

On September 4, 2013, the Respondents filed an Amended Answer to Petitioner's 

Complaint for Enforcement of Mechanic's Lien in the Circuit Court, asserting a litany of 

2 West Virginia Code § 38-2-34 provides, in relevant part, that "[u]nless an action to enforce any 
lien authorized by this article is commenced in a circuit court within six months after the person 
desiring to avail himself or herself of the court has filed his or her notice in the clerk's office, as 
provided in this article, the lien shall be discharged ..." 
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Counterclaims and also filed a "Motion for Declaratory Judgment or, in the Alternative, Motion 

to Stay Arbitration." [A-29-78] (hereafter "First Motion for Declaratory Judgment or, in the 

Alternative, Motion to Stay Arbitration" or "First Motion"). The Respondents' First Motion 

sought to declare the entire construction contract void and unenforceable (including the arbitration 

provision) because the contract did not include a three-day notice of right to cancellation. [A-78] 

The Respondents never challenged the contract before this First Motion and had adhered to its 

tem1S for more than two years. Additionally, the Respondents had received the benefit of the 

contract (i.e. the completed renovations) prior to contesting the legality of the contract. [A-02] In 

fact, there is no evidence that the Respondents would have elected to enforce the three-day right 

to cancel the contract if the provision had been included in the written contract. Indeed, the 

construction project was nearly complete at the time the Respondents refused to pay the Petitioner. 

[A-02] 

Respondents' First Motion also raised arguments specifically related to the enforceability 

of the arbitration clause including (1) that the arbitration provision was not supported by mutual 

assent; (2) that the AAA could not serve as an arbitration forum due to a purported "moratorium 

on consumer debt collection actions;" and (3) that the Petitioner waived his right to demand 

arbitration by filing his Complaint for Enforcement ofMechanic's Lien. [A-78-A-98] Petitioner 

filed a Response in Opposition to Respondents' First Motion that addressed each of these 

arguments in tum. [A-100-130]. Pursuant to the contract, Petitioner also filed a Motion to Compel 

arbitration. [A-100-130] 

The Circuit Court denied Respondents' First Motion by Order entered September 26,2014. 

[A-176-178] In its September 26,2014 Order, the Circuit Court rejected each of the arguments 

Respondents had raised to avoid arbitration. [A-176-178] In the Circuit Court's September 26, 
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2014, Order the Court found, inter alia, that the subject "arbitration clause is enforceable" and 

further determined that "all arguments made by the Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs in their 

motion for declaratory judgment or, in the alternative, motion to stay arbitration should be decided 

by the arbitrator and not this Court." [A-I78 at ~~ 7,8] (emphasis added). The Circuit Court's 

September 26, 2014, Order referred this matter to arbitration before the AAA in accordance with 

the parties' agreement. [A-176-178] This Order was not appealed nor the subject of any petition 

for extraordinary relief. 

The instant litigation was transferred to arbitration before the AAA in front of Arbitrator 

John Hays. Respondents again filed a motion to dismiss in the arbitration proceeding, raising the 

same arguments that had previously been made before the Circuit Court, including the argument 

that the parties' entire contract was void due to its lack of an express right of cancellation. [A-180 

-230] In an Order issued by Arbitrator Hays on March 4, 2014, the arbitrator denied the 

Respondents' Motion and determined, inter alia, "[a]s I understand the parties' intent based upon 

the unambiguous language of the contract, disputes arising under the contract must be submitted 

to arbitration." [A-3l2-315]. Arbitrator Hays further determined that "[t]he Jacobs' legal 

argument that 'there can be no agreement to arbitrate a dispute arising from an invalid agreement' 

is inconsistent with the doctrine of severability." [A-313] Indeed, Arbitrator Hays concluded that 

"[a]s I understand the parties' intent based upon the unambiguous language of the contract, 

disputes arising under the contract must be submitted to arbitration." [A-315] Since that time, the 

parties have proceeded with discovery in the arbitration proceeding for almost two years without 

objection. 

On September 22, 2016, nearly two years after the Circuit Court and the arbitrator ruled 

that the parties' arbitration agreement was enforceable, the Respondents filed their Second Motion 
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in front of the Circuit Court, renewing their request that the Court invalidate the contract and, 

consequently, the arbitration provision contained therein. [A-353-373] 

In their Second Motion, the Respondents abandoned their earlier arguments regarding the 

specific invalidity of the arbitration clause and instead focused exclusively on the argument that 

the entire construction contract was void and unenforceable because the contract did not include 

an express three-day right of cancellation. [A-353-373] the Petitioner filed a fonnal Response 

arguing, inter alia, that, pursuant to the severability doctrine, the Circuit COUli lacked jurisdiction 

to detennine the enforceability of the parties' entire contract. [A-374-399] 

On November 7, 2014, the Circuit Court entered its Order granting Respondents' Second 

Motion. [A-400-404] In direct contravention of the Court's September 26,2014 ruling, as well as 

Arbitrator Hays' ruling, the Circuit Court detennined that the Circuit Court, not the arbitrator, 

should decide the validity and enforceability of the parties' entire agreement. [A-400-404] 

Despite having rejected the same arguments two years prior, the Circuit Court concluded that, 

because the parties' contract was executed at the Respondents' residence, the Petitioner was 

required to provide an express three-day right of rescission in the contract. [A-400-404] Because 

the construction contract contained no such language, the Circuit Court concluded that the entire 

contract was void and unenforceable. [A-400-404] Thus, in its November 7, 2016 Order, the 

Circuit Court assumed jurisdiction over this action, invalidated the parties' entire contract, 

including the previously upheld arbitration provision, ordered that the arbitration proceedings be 

nullified, and ordered the parties to obtain a scheduling order from the Circuit Court for a trial to 

proceed in Circuit Court. [A-400-404] 

As explained herein below, Petitioner Stephen Thomas Grishaber seeks relief from the 

Circuit Court's November 7, 2016 Order because it violates well-settled law and seeks 
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enforcement ofthe subject arbitration clause as valid, irrevocable and enforceable pursuant to West 

Virginia and federal law. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court's November 7, 2016 Order that invalidated the parties' entire contract is 

predicated on several fundamentally clear errors of law. These errors mandate that this Court halt 

the enforcement of the Circuit Court's Order and compel the Respondents' to return to arbitration, 

where it had been litigated for several years. 

First, the Circuit Court's November 7, 2016 Order violated the well-established doctrine 

of "severability," which prohibits a court from invalidating an arbitration provision based upon an 

argument that the contract as a whole is unenforceable. As this Court and the United States 

Supreme Court repeatedly have recognized, when a court is presented with a challenge to 

arbitration, those challenges must specifically relate to the validity of the arbitration clause itself 

and not to the parties' contract as a whole. Where a party, like the Respondents in the instant 

matter, "challenges the enforceability ofthe entire contract (including the arbitration clause) -- that 

is, the party does not sever the arbitration clause from the rest of the contract and make a discrete 

challenge to the validity of the arbitration clause -- then the court is completely deprived of 

authority and only an arbitrator can assess the validity of the contract, including the validity of the 

arbitration clause." Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp. ("Brown I"), 228 W. Va. 646, 675, 724 

S.E.2d 250, 279 (2011), cert. granted, judgment vacated sub nom. A1armet Health Care Ctr., Inc. 

v. Brown, 565 U.S. 530, 132 S. Ct. 1201, 182 L. Ed. 2d 42 (2012). By invalidating the parties' 

arbitration clause based on a determination that the parties' entire contract was unenforceable, the 

Circuit Court violated the severability doctrine and committed clear legal error. 
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Second, the arbitration clause is valid and enforceable on its face under the Federal 

Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1, et seq., as recognized and adopted by this Court. 

Finally, the Circuit Court committed clear legal error in determining that the construction 

contract as a whole was void and unenforceable. The Circuit Court's determination that the 

parties' contract as a whole was void and unenforceable was premised on a clearly elToneous 

interpretation of a consumer protection regulation that requires contractors to provide an express 

right of rescission in certain home improvement contracts entered into pursuant to "home 

solicitation sales." (W.Va. C.S.R. §§ 142-5-1 et. seq.) The Circuit Court determined that the 

parties' contract qualified as a "home solicitation sale" based solely on the fact that the agreement 

was physically executed at the Respondents' residence. [A-401] As addressed herein below, the 

West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act ("WV CCP A") explicitly defines a "home 

solicitation sale." The statute requires more than simply the physical execution of a contract at a 

consumer's residence. Because the Circuit Court lacked an adequate factual foundation to support 

its determination that the parties' agreement was a "home solicitation sale," the Circuit Court's 

ruling that the parties' contract as a whole was void and unenforceable was clearly erroneous. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner respectfully requests oral argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate 

Procedure 19 because the decisional process is likely to be aided by oral argument. Oral argument 

is appropriate in this case because it involves both assignments of error in the application of settled 

law and an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled. 

This case mayor may not be appropriate for Memorandum Decision, depending upon the extent 

to which this Court wishes to elaborate upon the Circuit Court's misapplication of the relevant 

law. 
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ARGUMENT 


Standard of Review 


This appeal arises pursuant to the collateral order doctrine. The West Virginia Supreme 

Court has held that orders denying a motion to compel arbitration "fulfill the requirements of the 

collateral order doctrine." Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front, 231 W. Va. 518, 525, 745 S.E.2d 

556, 563 (2013). While the Order at issue specifically addressed a Motion styled "Motion/or a 

Declaratory Judgment or, in the Alternative, Motion to Stay Arbitration" that had been filed by 

Respondents, the determination of the Circuit Court's Order conclusively rejected the arbitration 

clause by voiding the entire contract and therefore said order places these issues and parties within 

the purview of the collateral order doctrine and, thereby, the jurisdiction of this Court. See e.g. 

Crihfield v. Brown, 224 W. Va. 407,411, 686 S.E.2d 58, 62 (2009) (discussing requirements of 

the collateral order doctrine and recognizing that a Circuit Court order that "conclusively 

determines the disputed issue of whether the case is subject to an arbitration" falls within the 

purview of the collateral order doctrine). 

Based on the same rationale, the Federal Arbitration Act ["FAA"], 9 U.S.C. § 2 governs 

the interpretation of the parties' contract and the arbitration clause contained therein because the 

contract evidenced a transaction that affected interstate commerce. The FAA provides for an 

unequivocal right to appeal any order "denying a petition .... to order arbitration to proceed." 9 

U.S.C. § 16(a)(1)(B). Under the FAA, "a party who believes that arbitration is required by an 

agreement between the parties need not suffer the expense and inconvenience of litigation before 

receiving appellate review of a [lower] court judgment that arbitration was inappropriate." 

Wheeling Hospital, Inc. v. Health Plan o/Ithe Upper Ohio Valley, Inc., 683 F.3d 577, 584 (4th 

Cir. 2012). This Court has similarly recognized the importance of providing immediate reviews of 
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decisions denying motions to compel arbitration. See, e.g., State ex ref. Johnson Controls, Inc. v. 

Tucker, 229 W. Va. 486, 492,729 S.E.2d 808, 814 (2012). 

A de novo standard of review governs this Court's resolution of the assignments of error 

addressed herein. See W Virginia CVS Pharmacy, LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy, Inc., No. 16

0209, 2017 WL 562826, at *3 (W. Va. Feb. 9, 2017)("when an appeal from an order denying a 

motion to dismiss and to compel arbitration is properly before this Court, our review is de novo"); 

see also Finch v. Inspectech, LLC, 229 W.Va. 147, 153, 727 S.E.2d 823, 829 (2012) ("we apply a 

de novo standard of review to [a] circuit court's interpretation of [a] contract."), citing Zimmerer 

v. 	Romano, 223 W.Va. 769, 777, 679 S.E.2d 601, 609 (2009) (per curiam). 

Assignments of Error 

First Assignment of Error: The Circuit Court erred by invalidating the 
parties' arbitration agreement based on an improper determination that the 
overall contract in which the arbitration clause was contained was 
unenforceable. The Court's ruling regarding the validity of the parties' 
overall contract violated the well-settled severability doctrine that requires a 
Circuit Court, when presented with a challenge to arbitration, to confine its 

inquiry to the validity of the arbitration provision itself. 


The Circuit Court exceeded its authority by ruling on the enforceability of the parties' 


arbitration provision that the Circuit Court itself had previously determined was valid and 

enforceable. [A-176-178] In its subsequent ruling, the Circuit Court improperly concluded that 

the contract as a whole was void and unenforceable because the overall contract did not provide 

an express three day right of cancellation. [A -400-404] The Court consequently, albeit 

erroneously, concluded that the arbitration provision contained within the parties' contract was 

likewise void and unenforceable. The Circuit Court's November 7, 2016 Order makes no finding 

of any unique defect or deficiency of the arbitration clause. In fact, the Circuit Court previously 

had ruled on specific challenges to the arbitration clause (lack of mutual assent, an AAA 
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moratorium on arbitration, and waiver), rejecting each of these challenges to the arbitration clause

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