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

Thus, to the extent that Grishaber argues that the applicability of the FAA precludes any analysis 

regarding contract formation, he is incorrect. The circuit court was correct to undertake that 

analysis, and the Jacobs respectfully request that this Court affirm that decision. 

D. 	 Third Assignment of Error: The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the WV AG 
Rule (and the Federal Rule that it incorporates) applied to the Project and 
precluded any Contract from being formed between the Parties. 

Grishaber's third assignment of error argues that the WVAG Rule does not apply to his 

dealings with the Jacobs because his sale of services to them did not involve "home 

improvement" and was not a "consumer credit sale," which he argues is necessary to have a 

"home solicitation sale." Grishaber is incorrect on both fronts. 

1. 	 Grishaber's argument that only "home improvement" projects require 
notice of the three day right of rescission was waived and, in any event, is 
incorrect. 

Grishaber's first argument against the WVAG Rule is that it does not apply to his work 

because his work was not a "home improvement" project. (Appellant's Br. at pp. 18-21.) This 

argument is improperly being raised for the first time on this appeal. It was not included in his 

response before the circuit court; nor did he argue it during the hearing before the circuit court. 

[A-374 to A-399 and A-405 to A-427] Thus, this argument has been waived. Shorts v. AT&T 

Mobility, No. 11-1649,2013 WL 2995944, at *4 (W. Va. June 17, 2013) (holding that plaintiff 

waived argument on appeal because she failed to raise it before the trial court) (citing Zaleski v. 

W Va. Mutual Ins. Co., 224 W. Va. 544, 550, 687 S.E.2d 123, 129 (2009) ("[B]ecause this 

argument is being raised for the first time on appeal, we must necessarily fmd that the argument 

has been waived.") 
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Even though Grishaber waived this argument, the Jacobs feel compelled to address it and 

to demonstrate for this Court why he is incorrect. Grishaber argues that only if a "home 

solicitation sale" relates to "home improvements" is a notice of three-day right of rescission 

required. (Appellant's Br. at pp. 19-21.) He in turn argues that his work at the Jacobs' home 

was not "home improvements" because it cost approximately $460,000. (Appellant's Br. at pp. 

20-21.) 

Even assuming that the notice of three-day right of rescission is limited to "home 

improvements," Grishaber's work qualified as such. "Home improvements" is defmed in the 

WV AG Rule to include "roofing, siding, ... replacement windows, doors, ... heating and air

conditioning equipment, fixtures of any kind, ... or engaging in the substantial remodeling or 

repair of any portion of an existing home ...." W. Va. Code R. § 142-5-2.6. 

Grishaber readily admitted that his work encompassed these items. More specifically, in 

the purported contract that Grishaber drafted, he describes his work as including "[r]enovations 

to the Jacobs' Residence ...." [A-21 to A-26.] That document further goes on to describe for 

pages the work his intended work, and that work includes the renovating or remodeling of 

several rooms in the Jacobs' home, including some "repair" work. [A-21 to A-26.] 

Further, documents that he filed in the arbitration, Grishaber again described the nature of 

his work. In one brief, Grishaber admitted that his work involved "HVAC renovations," 

"installation of a new roof," "installation of new plumbing," "site excavation," and "landscape 

repair and cleanup." [A-234.] Finally, he admitted that his work involved the Jacobs' "entire 

dwelling," in other words their "existing home." [A-234.] Grishaber's argument that he built 
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"an addition" to the Jacobs' home (and that this somehow relieves him of the duty to follow the 

WV AG Rule) ignores the substantial work that he did that constitute "home improvements."5 

2. 	 The WVAG Rule applies to all home solicitation sales, not just those 
involving consumer credit sales. 

Grishaber next argues that he is not required to comply with the WV AG Rule because 

that rule only applies to transactions that meet the definition of "home solicitation sales" under 

the West Virginia Code. (Appellant's Br. at pp. 21-24.) As with his earlier arguments, he is 

incorrect. 

Grishaber first argues that for the transaction at issue to meet the definition of a "home 

solicitation sale," it must be a "consumer credit sale" during which he extends credit to the 

Jacobs. However, the WVAG Rule is not that narrow. Section 3.2 of the WVAG Rule provides 

that it is a UDAP for a seller to fail to provide a buyer with notice of the buyer's three-day right 

to cancel when that notice is required, and that section goes on to list three sources for the 

requirement: (1) sections 2-132 through 2-135 of the WVCCPA, (2) 16 C.F.R. § 429, and 

(3) "as provided herein .... ," meaning within the WVAG Rule itself, CSR § 142-5-3.2. 

Grishaber argues that only a transaction that meets the definition of "home solicitation 

sale" in West Virginia Code § 46A-I-102(22) requires a notice of right to cancel, but that is not 

the only instance in which the WVAG Rule requires a notice of cancel to be given. Mere context 

within the WVAG Rule suggests that "home solicitation sales" cannot be so narrowly defined, 

5 To the extent that Grishaber later argues that he does not have to follow the WV AG Rule because his work 
qualified as both "home improvement" and "home construction," such an argument violates the mandate in the 
WV AG Rule that it be liberally construed to effectuate the purposes of the WVCCP A, that is, to protect the 
consumer. W. Va. Code R. § 142-5-1.9. 
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for if they were, then citations to 16 C.F.R § 429 and "as provided herein" would be 

superfluous.6 

If the WV AG had merely wanted to ensure that violations of sections 2-132 through 2

135 of the WVCCP A also constituted UDAPs, the WV AG could have done so without citing 

16 C.F.R § 429 or providing anything in the WVAG Rule itself. The WV AG did not, and with 

good reason. The authority under which the WV AG promulgated this WV AG Rule specifically 

requires that "rules and regulations conform as nearly as practicable with the rules, regulations 

and decisions of the [F]ederal [T]rade [C]ommission ...." W. Va. Code R. § 142-5-1.3; W. Va. 

Code § 46A-6-103. 7 

The WV AG Rule also requires a notice of right to cancel if 16 C.F.R. § 429 would 

require one. The Federal Trade Commission promulgated 16 C.F.R. § 429, which makes it a 

UDAP for any seller to fail to provide (in two different ways, no less) notice of their right to 

cancel the contract. See 16 C.F.R. § 429. 1 (a)-(b). Its definition of "door-to-door sales" is 

another way of saying "home solicitation sales," but its application is in no way limited by the 

manner in which a transaction is financed. To be clear, there is no requirement in 16 C.F.R. 

§ 429 that the contract must provide financing to the homeowner before the contractor is 

required to comply with its provisions. As the WV AG Rule incorporates 16 C.F.R. § 429, there 

can be no dispute that a violation of 16 C.F.R. § 429 is a violation of § 142-5-3.2, and that part of 

6 This Court has consistently held that broad interpretations designed to maximally protect consumers are 
appropriate. See, e.g., Barr v. NCB Mgmt Servs., Inc., 227 W. Va. 507, 512-13, 711 S.E.2d 577, 582-83 (2011) 
(holding that "creditor," an undefined term as used in section 5-101 of the WYCCPA, should be construed broadly 
and liberally to include "debt collectors" in order to effectuate the remedial nature of the WYCCPA) (citations 
omitted). 
7 In and of itself, this argument is incomplete because § 1-101(22) of the WVCCPA further provides that "[aJ 
sale which would be a home solicitation sale if credit were extended by the seller is a home solicitation sale although 
the goods or services are paid for, in whole or in part, by a consumer loan in which the creditor is subject to claims 
and defenses arising from the sale." 
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the CFR does not require a "home solicitation sale." In fact, 16 C.F.R. § 429 does not even refer 

to "home solicitation sales," but rather governs "door-to-door sales." 

A "door-to-door" sale is defined as 

[a] sale ... of consumer goods or services with a purchase price of $25 or more .. 
. in which the seller or his representative personally solicits the sale, including 
those in response to or following an invitation by the buyer, and the buyer's 
agreement or offer to purchase is made at a place other than the place of 
business of the seller .... 

16 C.F.R § 429 (emphasis added). 

The word "home solicitation sale" appears nowhere in 16 C.F.R. § 429, but the WVAG 

Rule clearly provides it as a source of the three-day right to cancel requirement for home 

solicitation sales. Likewise, "as provided herein" does not define "home solicitation sale," but 

provides protections nonetheless. The only way to reconcile the WV AG Rule with the authority 

from whence it came and with the language it contains is to interpret "home solicitation sales" 

broadly. 

Perhaps the best evidence that the WVAG Rule is not limited to only "consumer credit 

sales" is in the way that the Attorney General explains its Rule and enforces it. In an August 

2013 publication from the WV AG's Office entitled Measuring Up: A Consumer's Guide to 

Hiring Contractors/or Home Repairs, the WVAG explains the way in which § 142-5-1, et seq. 

applies, as well as the criteria for applying it. [A-l 99 to A-206.] The brochure provides that "[a] 

home solicitation sale is one that occurs at a place other than the seller's place of business. A 

home improvement contract that is signed at your home is a home solicitation sale, even if you 

contacted the contractor first and asked him or her to come to your home. In such a sale, the 

contractor is required to include notice of the right to cancel in the contract." [A-202.] Nowhere 
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in the brochure does the WV AG limit the defInition of a home solicitation sale to one involving a 

consumer credit sale. 

Further, for at least the last 13 years, the WV AG has brought civil actions against home 

contractors that confrrm that the WV AG Rule applies when there is no extension of credit by the 

contractor. See Complaint and Petition for Preliminary and Permanent Injunction, State of 

W. Va. ex reI. Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen.v. Basset Constr., Civil Action No. 13-C-280, 

Circuit Court of Putnam County. In Basset, a contractor Gust like Grishaber) performed home 

renovations and additions Gust like Grishaber) without giving the buyers notice of their three-day 

right to cancel Gust like Grishaber). That contractor was sued by the WV AG for, among other 

things, failing to give the notice of right to cancel. Nowhere in that lawsuit does the WVAG 

allege that the home solicitation sales at issue were also consumer credit sales or that the 

contractor provided financing to the homeowner. See id; see also State ofWest Virginia ex reI. 

Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen. v. Great Finishes, LLC, et al., Civil Action No. 16-C-I135, 

Circuit Court of Kanawha County (no indication in Complaint that credit was extended by 

contractor); State ofWest Virginia ex reI. Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen. v. Roger Province, et 

al., Civil Action No. 15-C-1659, Circuit Court of Kanawha County (same); State of West 

Virginia ex reI. Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen. v. Quick Silver Restoration, LLC, et al., Civil 

Action No. 14-C- 1952, Circuit Court of Kanawha County (same); State of West Virginia ex reI. 

Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen. v. Amy R. Wright, et al., Civil Action No. 09-C-306, Circuit 

Court of Wood County (same); State of West Virginia ex rei. Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen. v. 

Donna K. Diulus, et al., Civil Action No. 04-C-281, Circuit Court of Marion County (same). 

The fact that no extension of credit is required in order for the WV AG Rule to apply is 

consistent with the authority lmder which the WVAG promulgated the rule. As discussed supra, 
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the WVAG Rule pertains to the prevention ofUDAP in home improvement transactions. W. Va. 

Code R. § 142-5-1. Article 6 of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, W. Va. 

Code §§ 46A-6-101 et seq. is the provision that addresses UDAP. It does not relate to extensions 

of credit but instead prohibits UDAP "in the conduct of any trade or commerce" and provides a 

cause of action to any consumer who suffers UDAP in connection with "purchas[ing] or 

leas[ing] goods or services ...." W. Va. Code §§ 46A-6-104 and 6-106. 

Grishaber next argues that he need not comply with the WVAG Rule because the 

Jacobs initiated the first contact with him. (Appellant's Br. at pp. 23-24.) The fact that the 

Jacobs first contacted Grishaber does not relieve him of the obligation to provide a notice of right 

to cancel. As discussed above, it is a UDAP and a violation of the WVAG Rule if Grishaber 

violates 16 C.F.R. § 429. That federal rule expressly provides that a door-to-door sale includes 

sales "in response to or following an invitation by the buyer ...." 16 C.F.R. § 429.0(a). The 

fact that the Jacobs may have first initiated the contact between the parties does not in any way 

relieve Grishaber of the duty to comply with the WVAG Rule. 

Moreover, the civil actions brought by the WVAG in connection with enforcing the 

WVAG Rule confirm that, even where a homeowner initiates the contact with the contractor, the 

contractor still is required to comply with the WVAG Rule. State of West Virginia ex reI. 

Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen. v. Amy R. Wright, et al., Civil Action No. 09-C-306, Circuit 

Court of Wood County; State ofWest Virginia ex reI. Patrick Morrisey, Attorney Gen. v. Donna 

K Diulus, et al., Civil Action No. 04-C-281, Circuit Court of Marion County. In both of those 

actions, the fact that the homeowners initiated the first contact did not preclude the WVAG from 

asserting that the WVAG Rule applied. 
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At least one court has expressly addressed the same argument Grishaber makes here. In 

Burke v. Yingling, 666 A.2d 288 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1995), a Pennsylvania statute similar to 16 

C.F.R. § 429 applied to a contract for the sale of custom stereo equipment even though the 

sophisticated buyer8 contacted the seller first. 666 A.2d at 289. In Burke, the buyer initiated 

contact with the seller for the installation of custom stereo equipment, but the buyer became 

dissatisfied, sent the seller written notice that he wished to cancel,9 and the seller sued. Id at 

289-90. In finding for the seller, the trial court found the transaction was not one involving door

to-door sales because the buyer initiated contact with the seller and the buyer was sophisticated. 

Id at 290. On appeal, the Pennsylvania Superior Court rejected both reasons and reversed the 

trial court. Id. at 292. The Pennsylvania Superior Court explained that the statute protected all 

consumers meeting the statutory definition, which did not provide an exception for sophisticated 

buyers or buyers who first invited the seller. Id. at 291. In sum, the similar Pennsylvania statute 

was deemed to protect the buyer who did not receive statutory notice of his right to cancel, even 

though eight months passed since he signed that purported contract. Id at 290. 

Finally, near the end of his brief, Grishaber argues that the location where the contract 

was signed (the Jacobs home) is irrelevant to whether the transaction is governed by the WVAG 

Rule. (Appellant's Br. at p. 24.) Grishaber again is incorrect. The WVAG Rule undeniably 

incorporates 16 C.F.R. § 429. The fact that the parties signed the purported contract at the 

Jacobs' home (and not at Grishaber's place of business) is one of the criteria that establish the 

8 Grishaber's characterization of Mr. Jacobs as sophisticated is completely irrelevant here. Neither the 
Pennsylvania statute (deemed to protect a sophisticated doctor) nor 16 C.F.R. § 429, nor the WVCCPA, is applied 
differently for sophisticated consumers versus unsophisticated ones. To the extent that sophistication factors into 
certain legal analyses, like unconscionability, those analyses are not presently before the Court. Regardless, all 
consumers are entitled to protection for unlawful action. The law does not open the door to fraud and unscrupulous 
activity against certain consumers, while protecting others. 
9 Under the WVAG Rule, a purported contracts ineffective until a seller provides a buyer with the right to 
cancel, so there is nothing to cancel until the right has been provided to the buyer. See W. Va. Code R. § 142-5
3.2.2 
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parties' transaction as a door-to-door sale. 16 C.F.R § 429. For these reasons, Grishaber was 

required to comply with the WV AG Rule, and his failure to do so precluded any contract from 

being formed. Thus, the Jacobs respectfully request that this Court affirm the circuit court's 

order. 

3. 	 Grishaber's argument that the West Virginia Contractor Licensing Board 
does not require a Notice of Right of Rescission was waived and does not 
negate the fact that the WV AG has implemented the WVAG Rule and 
determined that it applies to the Parties' Dispute. 

Grishaber attempts to justify his failure to comply with the WVAG Rule by arguing that

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